Electronically Filed Oct 06 2014 02:39 p.m. Tracie K. Lindeman Clerk of Supreme Court

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

RONALD ERNEST LAKEMAN

Supreme Court No. 64609

Appellant,

District Court No. C265107

VS.

THE STATE OF NEVADA

Respondent.

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

FREDERICK A. SANTACROCE, ESQ. 3275 S. Jones Avenue, Suite 104
Las Vegas, NV
(702) 218-3360
Nevada Bar no. 5121
Attorney for Appellant
RONALD ERNEST LAKEMAN

STATEMENT OF ISSUES

- I. Did the Court err in refusing to grant a change of venue?
- II. Did the Court err in refusing to disallow the playing of Descendent, Meana's video deposition even though Lakeman did not have the opportunity to cross-examine Meana?
- III. Did the Court err in allowing the testimony of Melissa Schafer, the CDC investigator, regarding Lakeman's telephonic interview with the CDC?
- IV. Prosecutorial Misconduct: Did the court err in refusing to grant the defense's motion for mistrial:
 - 1. When the prosecutor in the middle of Mathahs' testimony exited the courtroom and told Mathahs' attorney that he was not testifying in favor of the prosecution and that the State would not honor the deal unless he do did?
 - 2. When the prosecutor directly elicited prohibitive testimony so egregious that the court admonished the conduct in front of the jury?
 - 3. In closing argument when the prosecutor said, "put yourself in the shoes of the victims....."? (Golden Rule Argument)
- V. Did the evidence support conviction for criminal negligent of patients NRS 200.495?
- VI. Is NRS 202.595 a lesser included offense of NRS 200.495?

STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION

This appeal is taken from a final judgment of conviction pursuant to NRS 2.090; 177.015(3). Judgment was entered on November 13, 2013; that Judgment was amended on November 21, 2013. (App 36) Notice of Appeal was filed on December 9, 2013. (App 484) This appeal is taken from a final judgment.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

1. Introduction

This case arises out of a Hepatitis C outbreak which occurred at the Endoscopy Center of Southern Nevada (ECSN) Las Vegas, Clark County, Nevada, in 2007. Specifically, on or about July 25, 2007 and September 21, 2007 seven patients at ECSN became infected with hepatitis C.

Ronald Lakeman, the Appellant in this case, was a Certified Registered Nurse Anesthetist (CRNA) employed at ECSN. Mr. Lakeman was employed to administer Propofol, the sedative given to patients prior to the procedure. On the dates in question, Mr. Lakeman administered propofol to four of the seven infected patients. The State alleged that the disease was transmitted through contaminated propofol bottles which Mr. Lakeman used on his patients. (App. 3)

On June 4, 2010, a 28 Count Indictment was returned against Dr. Dipak Kantilal Desai, Ronald Lakeman and Keith Mathahs. The Indictment was amended on June 11, 2010, December 7, 2012, February 12, 2013, February 20, 2013 and

May 6, 2013. On August 10, 2012, a separate Indictment was filed alleging Second Degree Murder as a result of the death of Rodolfo Meana. That charge was ultimately consolidated with the pending charges. The final version of the Indictment alleged as follows: Insurance Fraud (NRS 686A.2815) (Counts 1, 4, 5, 8, 11, 14, 15, 18, 21, 24); Reckless Disregard Resulting in Substantial Harm (NRS 0.060, 202.595)(Counts 2, 6, 9, 12, 16, 19, 22); Criminal Neglect of Patients Resulting in Substantial Bodily Harm (NRS 0.060, 200.495)(Counts 3, 7, 10, 13, 17, 20, 23); Theft (NRS 205.0832, 202.0835)(Count 25); Obtaining Money under False Pretenses (NRS 205.265, 205.380)(Counts 26, 27) and Second Degree Murder (NRS 200.010, 200.020, 200.030, 200.070, 200.595, 200.495)(Count 28). (See Fifth Amended Indictment)(App. 1)

Prior to trial, Keith Mathahs entered a guilty plea. Lakeman and Desai proceeded to trial on April 22, 2013. On July 1, 2013, the jury returned a verdict finding Lakeman guilty of the following charges: Count 1; Count 2; Count 3; Count 6; Count 7; Count 8; Count 12; Count 13; Count 14; Count 15; Count 19; Count 20; Count 21; Count 24; Count 25; and Count 26. Judgment of Conviction (App. 36)

Mr. Lakeman was acquitted on Counts 5, 9, 10, 11, 16, 17 18, 22, 23, 27 and 28. Mr. Lakeman appeals from the guilty convictions. (App. 44-45)

FACTS

Ronald Ernest Lakeman, 67 years of age, was convicted of 16 of 28 counts

ranging from misdemeanors to category B felonies.

Mr. Lakeman is married, the father of one child and two grandchildren. He is a military veteran having served in the USAF on two separate occasions most recently from 1980-1990. In the Air Force Mr. Lakeman was a registered nurse and received anesthesia training becoming a Certified Registered Nurse Anestitician (CRNA). Mr. Lakeman was honorably discharged in 1990 as a Captain. He located to Columbus, Georgia with his wife of 25 years. He practiced in Columbus, GA until 2004 when he and his family moved to Las Vegas to accept a position at the Endoscopy Center of Southern Nevada. He practiced in Las Vegas from 2004-2007.

Prior to the instant conviction Mr. Lakeman had a spotless record performing over 40,000 procedures without a single complaint. Other than the instant conviction, Mr. Lakeman has had no disciplinary action with any licensing boards. He has no criminal history. See Sentencing Brief.

ARGUMENT

I. THE COURT ERRED IN REFUSING TO GRANT A CHANGE OF VENUE?

A District court may change the place of trial "when there is reason to believe that an impartial trial cannot be had" in the county designated in the Complaint. NRS 13.050. NRS 174.455(3) allows for appeal from a denial of a

motion for change of venue in a criminal case only on appeal from a Judgment of Conviction.

In *National Collegiate Athletic Ass'n v. Tarkanian*, 113 Nev. 610, 939 P.2d 1049 (1997) the court set forth six factors to consider in evaluating whether a change of venue should be granted. They are:

- 1. the nature and extent of the pre-trial publicity;
- 2. the size of the community;
- 3. the nature and gravity of the lawsuit;
- 4. the status of the plaintiff and defendant in the community;
- 5. the existence of political overtones in the case.
- 6. the amount of time that separated the release if publicity and the trial.

In *Sicor Inc. v. Hutchinson* 127 Nev. Adv. Op.82, 266 P3.3d 608 (2011) the court added several factors;

- 7. the care used and difficulty encountered in selecting a jury;
- 8. the familiarity of potential jurors with pre-trial publicity;
- 9. the effect of the publicity on the jurors;
- 10. the challenges exercised by the party seeking a change of venue.

In reviewing the factors as applied to this appeal the totality of the factors warranted a change of venue.

1. The Nature and Extent of the Pre-Trial Publicity

For five years prior to this trial, the Las Vegas community was flooded with adverse publicity and sensational reports about the outbreak of Hepatitis C infections. The outbreak lead the Southern Nevada Health District to issue letters to over 60,000 patients warning the patients that they may have been exposed to Hepatitis B, C and HIV.

The media had fueled the passions of the public with a constant bombardment of stories on the evening news and in the print media. Dr. Desai was the most despised individual in the community in recent memory.

No case has generated more intense negative publicity than this case. The lesser known of the two Defendants was Ronald Lakeman who was now being tried with Dr. Desai and was subjected to the stigma attached thereto.

In *Sicor*, 266 P.3d 608 this court received a plethora of newspaper and internet articles regarding the initial incidents at the clinics. (Appellant Lakeman requests this court take judicial notice of those articles presented in the *Sicor* case.)

This court acknowledged in *Sicor* that "while some of these articles expressed outrage over the actions of Desai and the clinic employees the same level of emotion was not found in the articles that discussed the civil trials." Well, here we are in the criminal appeal. Certainly, this court must now recognize the level of hostility directed at Dr. Desai and the clinic employees namely, Lakeman as a result of the pre-trial publicity.

2. Size of the Community

Las Vegas is a community of some 2 million people county wide. At first blush, it seems like a community in which a fair and impartial jury could be pooled. Not so. Consider:

1. Over 60,000 notices were sent out to residents of Clark County notifying them of the potential risk of exposure to Hepatitis B, C and HIV. (App. 486) Imagine getting such a letter in the mail. These 60,000 patients had wives, husbands, parents, children, nieces, nephews, aunts, uncles, friends and the list goes on. These notified patients shared their fears, anxieties and apprehensions with their circle of friends and relatives. Imagine the number of people who actually knew someone who was sent a letter. The size of the community suddenly gets significantly smaller.

As juror number 100604914 wrote in her questionnaire, "I know 2 people who had to be tested & have seen this case on the news. I watch the news everyday." (Juror questionnaire App. 72)

3. The Nature and Gravity of the Lawsuit

Without a doubt, the facts underlying this case have seriously impacted the lives of tens of thousands of Clark County residents. The gravity of this case is evident in the 28 count felony indictment ranging from insurance fraud to murder. (App. 1) This case has ignited the emotions and passions of the community. One

need only look at the hundreds of news reports, editorials, and juror comments. If ever there were a case where pretrial publicity "corrupted the trial atmosphere" so as to preclude a fair trial it is this case. *Sicor v. Hutchinson*, 286 P.3d 608 (2011)

4. Care Used and Difficulty Selecting a Jury; challenges used

Despite the best efforts of the defense it was impossible to remove all those jurors who expressed bias. The defense was given nine total preemptory challenges to use for two defendants. The defense requested more but was denied. (App. 378-379) The court erred in not excusing juror number 129, 385, 426, 453, 573, 718, for cause (App. 359)

JUROR 385: Expressed bias toward the medical and legal professions both in her questionnaire and in jury voir dire. (App. 362, 364, 363, 365) Despite this recalcitrant and biased prospective juror, the court refused to excuse her for cause. (App. 366)

JUROR: 224: (Empaneled as juror no. 3) (App. 40) This juror was a problem from the beginning. She first attempted to be excused for financial reasons. (App. 397) The court refused to excuse her. (Id.) She then committed misconduct in front of all the other jurors and was excused and repremanded by the court. (App. 400)

Juror 224 commented on the defenses' cross examination of victim Michael Washington, saying "I can't believe they asked him to add up the numbers." (App.

504) Despite this potential jury contamination the court did not interview the entire panel and refused to grant a mistrial.

JUROR 1: (App. 40) On day 26 of the trial Juror No. 1 expressed concern that she could not be unbiased. (App. 46-71) The court interviewed and questioned Juror No. 1. (Id.) The court took no action on Juror No. 1 until the last day of the trial (day 45) and just prior to reading the jury instructions. (App. 477-478) At that time the court asked the defense if they wanted to keep Juror No. 1. At this late date in the trial, the defense who had previously objected to Juror No. 1 had no option but to keep her on the jury.

5. Potential Jurors Familiarity With the Publicity

By the time the case went to trial, Appellant had already been portrayed by the media in such a negative light that the prejudice against him was palpable. There were some 500 juror questionnaires filled out. Those questionnaires are part of the record. (App. 368) A review of those questionnaires shows the level of animosity and bias in the community. (App. 94, 116, 138, 160, 182, 204, 226, 247)

These comments are but a small sampling of the prejudice and bias which permeated the jury pool.

The trial court MUST grant a change of venue if there is a "reasonable likelihood" that an impartial trial cannot be had in the original venue. *Tarkanian*, 113 Nev. at 612, 939 P2d at 1051.

6. The Effect of the Publicity on the Jurors

The jury selection process revealed that the publicity had an overwhelming effect on the opinions of the venire. What is troubling is that many of the potential jurors formed erroneous opinions as to how the disease was spread. (See App. 269, 291, 313, 335) When jurors are affected by news reports to the extent that they have formed negative and erroneous opinions as to the Defendants, and as to the source and transmission of the disease, it is an insurmountable task for the defense to overcome.

7. The Challenges Exercised by the Party Seeking Change of Venue

The jury selection process took the better part of eight days. (App. 387) During that time period most of the 500 venire were excused by way of stipulation or sua sponte by the court. Lakeman challenged juror 129 for cause. (App. 359) That challenge was denied. (Id at 490) Lakeman challenged juror 426 for cause. (App. 365) That challenge was denied. (Id. At 368) Lakeman challenged juror 385 for cause (as discussed infra) that challenge was denied. (Id. at 366)

Juror 224 first attempted to be excused for financial reasons. (App. 397) The court refused to excuse her. (Id.) (as discussed infra) Juror 224 was empanelled and later excused for misconduct. (App. 404) Lakeman challenged juror 523 because a family member was a patient of the clinic. That challenge was denied. (App. 370-371) Lakeman challenged juror 633. That challenge was

denied. (App. 372) Lakeman challenged juror 718. That challenge was denied. (App. 375)

When reviewing the totality of the circumstances, the law, and the facts there is certainly ample evidence to believe that an impartial trial could not be had in Clark County. NRS 13.050

II. THE COURT ERRED IN REFUSING TO DISALLOW THE PLAYING OF DESCEDENT, MEANA'S VIDEO DEPOSITION EVEN THOUGH LAKEMAN DID NOT HAVE OPPORTUNITY TO CROSS-EXAMINE MEANA

Rodolfo Meana attempted to give a video tapped deposition prior to trial. Mr. Meana was questioned by the State and passed the witness to Mr. Wright. Before Mr. Wright had finished his cross examination Mr. Meana was no longer able to continue. The State promised to continue the deposition, however, Mr. Meana returned to the Philippines before finishing his deposition and subsequently died. Lakeman did not have an opportunity to ask one question.

The State attempted to, and was allowed to over the objection of counsel, to play the video tapped deposition before the jury.

MR. SANTACROCE: I'm formally objecting to the use of the video deposition of Mr. Meana for these reasons. First of all, it violates the confrontation clause of the United States Constitution. Mr. Lakeman, and I as his counsel, didn't have an opportunity to cross-examine Mr. Meana.....

It is patently unfair and a violation of the Confrontation Clause to allow that deposition to be shown to the jury.....(App. 382)

THE COURT: All right. Well I've already ruled on it. I don't know that I have to make any additional record. You know, if you're—if it's such a

violation of the Confrontation Clause, then you know, Dr. Desai's conviction or Mr. Lakeman's conviction if we ever get there, **should be reversed...** (emphasis added) (App. 383-384)

It is black letter law that testimonial statements of an unavailable witness are inadmissible unless the defendant had an opportunity to previously cross-examine the witness regarding the witness' statement. Crawford v. Washington, 124 S.Ct. 1354 (2004). There is no dispute here that the witness was unavailable for trial or that the statements of Meana, made in the deposition are testimonial. A defendant is entitled to "an opportunity for...effective cross-examination" in order to satisfy his right to confrontation when testimony of an unavailable witness in a previous proceeding is sought to be admitted by the State. Chavez v. State, 213 P.3d 476, 484 (Nev. 2009). Here, adequate opportunity for cross-examination was precluded by the failure of the State, which sought to introduce Meana's recorded testimony, to reschedule the deposition. When the State was permitted to introduce the complete direct examination of the unavailable witness, Appellant's right to confrontation was violated.

III. THE COURT ERRED IN ALLOWING THE TESTIMONY OF DR. MELISSA SCHAEFER THE CDC INVESTIGATOR, REGARDING LAKEMAN'S TELEPHONIC INTERVIEW WITH THE CDC.

Lakeman sought to exclude the telephonic conversation between Lakeman and Dr. Melissa Schafer of the Centers for Disease Control (CDC). (App. 380)

On or about January, 2009 CDC inspector, Dr. Melissa Schaefer contacted

Mr. Lakeman by telephone. Schaefer identified herself as an investigator from the CDC and asked if Lakeman would talk to her, Lakeman was reluctant at first, but Schaefer promised Lakeman anonymity, and in fact, told him that his name would never be used, that he would be assigned a number, and that would only be referred to in any CDC reports by that number. (Id.; See also Id at 434) On that basis, Mr. Lakeman openly and freely spoke to the investigator. Dr. Schaefer testified as follows:

- Q. Tell me who initiated contact with Mr. Lakeman.
- A, I looked him up on the Internet and found a number and called it.....
- Q. Okay. And how did you identify yourself?
- A. That I was a working CDC employee and—that we had done an investigation at the clinic where he had worked previously.
- Q. Okay. Tell me about some of the promises that you made to him before questioning or talking to him, asking him questions.
- A. So again, I told him that I was not tape-recording the call. And again, since I didn't realize this was going to be a criminal investigating (sic), you know, explaining how we typically do things as far as, you know, any reports—don't list his name; we assign, you know, a number or something else for the information that's provided.
- Q. Well, in your grand jury transcript you talk about how important anonymity is to the CDC in order to gain information for public safety.
- A. Right.
- Q. Okay. So tell me about that.
- A. So, you know, when we do these investigations, we rely on the healthcare providers to be transparent with us and to perhaps tell us things that they wouldn't tell their employer or that they don't want others to know, you know; to take us aside and say, you know, I-please know that- this—I don't want my employer to know this, but this is really what's happening there. And so that's helpful to get honest information for public safety so that if there's a bad practice identified, we can stop it.
- Q. Okay. And you explained that to Mr. Lakeman, correct?
- A. I don't know if I went into the detail that I am explaining here, but I did communicate that we wouldn't use his name in any—anything we generated.

(App. 432-435)

- Q. Well, he made a statement to you to the effect that, well, if—I'm going to deny talking to you.....
- A. It was something along the lines of denying that he had said these things to me if it came down to it. (App. 436)
- Q. And when your investigating and talking to these individuals, you said in your grand—what did you say in your grand jury transcript—or to the grand jury on that issue?
- A. That—again, we need healthcare workers to be honest with us and to tell us things and to do—you know, the best we can with—with any public reports that we generate or put out to not list names.
- Q. Didn't you say that they don't want retribution from their current employer for reporting someone else's actions, so I guess I wasn't entirely surprised by the statement?

A. I did say that, correct. (App. 437)

The defense, moved in limine, to exclude the testimony of Dr. Schaefer's testimony and to the statement that Lakeman would deny ever talking to her. (App. 380) That motion was denied. (Id. at 381)

As Dr. Schaefer testified, it is imperative to public safety to "get honest information for public safety so that if there's a bad practice identified, we can stop it." (App. 432-435)

To allow the CDC to breach their promises of anonymity could have a chilling effect on the public health safety of every city and town across America and possibly the world. Public health workers will be reluctant to speak if they risk the exposure to criminal prosecution. In this time of increasing concerns over

transmission of deadly diseases such as Ebola and the like we want candor from health care workers and the public. The public safety of our community and nation demands such protection.

The defense further objected to the statement allegedly made by Lakeman, that he would deny ever speaking to Dr. Schaefer. (App. 436) The statement was made early in the conversation with Dr. Schaefer. (Id.)

NRS 48.035(1) provides in part,

"Although relevant, evidence is not admissible if its probative value is substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice, of confusion of the issues or of misleading the jury."

This statement is more prejudicial than probative and the court erred in allowing the statement to be put before the jury.

IV. PROSECUTORIAL MISCONDUCT

The nature and degree of misconduct so infected the proceedings that the conviction must be vacated to remedy the deprivation of Appellant's right to a fair trial. *Darden v. Wainwright*, 477 U.S. 168, 181, 106 S.Ct. 2464, 91 L.Ed.2d 144 (1986)(quoting *Donnelly v. DeChristoforo*, 416 U.S. 637, 643, 94 S.Ct. 1868, 40 L.Ed. 2d 431 (1974).

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