IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

RONALD ERNEST LAKEMAN,  
Appellant,  
v.  
THE STATE OF NEVADA,  
Respondent.

Electronically Filed  
Mar 23 2015 03:41 p.m.  
Tracie K. Lindeman  
Clerk of Supreme Court

Case No. 64609

**RESPONDENT'S ANSWERING BRIEF**

**Appeal From Judgment of Conviction  
Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County**

FREDERICK A. SANTACROCE, ESQ.  
Nevada Bar #005121  
3275 S. Jones Ave., Suite 104  
Las Vegas, Nevada 89146  
(702) 218-3360

STEVEN B. WOLFSON  
Clark County District Attorney  
Nevada Bar #001565  
Regional Justice Center  
200 Lewis Avenue  
Post Office Box 552212  
Las Vegas, Nevada 89155-2212  
(702) 671-2500  
State of Nevada

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

## **SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT**

Just as with the appendix he has provided, Lakeman's Opening Brief is woefully deficient. He fails to include important pieces of evidence in the record to support his claims, cites to portions of the record that are incorrect, and requests plain error review for almost every claim in his Opening Brief. Additionally, because of the lack of a coherent record, the State is constrained in how to respond to many of his arguments.

## **ARGUMENT**

### **I.**

#### **Change of Venue is an Inappropriate Claim to Bring for the First Time on Appeal**

Lakeman contends that the court erred in refusing to grant a change of venue. Appellant's Opening Brief (AOB), p. 4. However, the district court never ruled on a change of venue request, as one was never brought. Lakeman's contention that the district court erred is disingenuous, as the lack of record cites in the Opening Brief shows a clear understanding that this issue is newly brought before this Court. While NRS 174.455(3) allows an appeal from a denial of a motion for change of venue in a criminal case on appeal from a final judgment, as there was no motion made, this statute is inapplicable.

Additionally, there can be no variety of plain-error review in this instance. In order for a purported error to be reviewed by an appellate court, there must be some object or action for the court to review. Instead, Lakeman urges this Court to review an omission and to essentially consider a retroactive motion for change of venue. As the record is insufficient to provide an adequate basis for plain error review, this Court should conclude that the claim regarding change of venue was waived. Cf. Wilkins v. State, 96 Nev. 367, 372, 609 P.2d 309, 312 (1980) (finding that failure to file a motion seeking suppression of an interrogation in trial court waives the issue on appeal).

A decision on a motion for change of venue is a fact-intensive enterprise; accordingly, reaching the merits of this claim would involve impermissible appellate fact finding. See Ornelas v. United States, 517 U.S. 690 (1996); Scott v. State, 782 A.2d 862 (Md. 2001). “To establish plain error, there must be (1) error, (2) that is plain, and (3) that affects substantial rights.” United States v. Brown, 352 F.3d 654, 664 (2d Cir. 2003). Here, the district court would have been without the power to grant an application for change of venue sua sponte. See NRS 174.464(1) (requiring application be made in open court by one of the parties). Thus, the omission cannot be considered error, plain or otherwise.

## II.

### **No Relief is Available on a Claim Related to the Videotaped Deposition of Rodolfo Meana**

Lakeman contends his Confrontation Clause Rights were violated due to the

admittance of the videotaped deposition of Rodolfo Meana, yet he fails to provide a record of the deposition, precluding consideration of this claim. Further, even were this claim capable of review, any error would be harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. The United States Supreme Court has found that alleged violations of the Confrontation Clause can be reviewed for harmless error under Chapman v. California, 386 U.S. 18, 24 (1967). Constitutional error is harmless when “it is ‘clear beyond a reasonable doubt that a rational jury would have found the defendant guilty absent the error.’” Tavares v. State, 117 Nev. 725, 732 n.14, 30 P.3d 1128, 1132 n. 14 (2001) (quoting Neder v. United States, 527 U.S. 1, 3 (1999)). Lakeman was not the CRNA who treated Mr. Meana, thus the jury elected to acquit him of the counts related to that victim. Accordingly, no prejudice inures to Lakeman even assuming an error existed.

### III.

#### **The District Court Was Correct in Determining the Testimony of Melissa Schaefer Regarding Lakeman’s Confession Was More Probative than Prejudicial**

Lakeman contends that allowing the testimony of Dr. Melissa Schaefer regarding Lakeman’s phone conversation with her was more prejudicial than probative, and thus the court erred by allowing it into evidence. AOB at 15. Lakeman does not present any further legal cites explaining his objection to this testimony. The court stated:

with respect to the probative versus prejudicial effect, I think the – you know, the probative value outweighs the

prejudicial, I mean, it – you know, it's prejudicial, they wouldn't want to use it if it wasn't prejudicial. But the probative value, you know, is – goes to a knowledge of guilt and, you know, I think that that's probative. And again, you know, you can – you know, if you think that the statement is taken out of context or doesn't mean what it sounds like it means or something like that, you can elicit that on cross-examination.

8 AA 1647.

Lakeman contends that allowing the CDC to breach their promises of anonymity "could have a chilling effect on the public health safety of every city and town across America and possibly the world." AOB at 14. Lakeman's hyperbolic assertions do not constitute an appropriate analysis under NRS 48.035. NRS 48.035(1) states "although relevant, evidence is not admissible if its probative value is substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice, of confusion of the issues or of misleading the jury."

Lakeman admitted his culpability and that he knew the risk he was taking by "double-dipping." Schaefer's testimony was probative as to the very nature of the charges against Lakeman:

Q. Can you describe what he was saying when he used those words?

A. So essentially you're going back into the vial. So, you know, like, when you take salsa and a chip and you eat it and then you double-dip, you go back into the dip with that chip that you have bitten into. You're putting your mouth bacteria into that bottle of dip for other patients. So I take my needle and syringe, I inject it into a patient. I double-dip, I go back into the vial with that same

syringe. I've contaminated the medication of the dip or whatever you want to call it, and then I'm using that for other patients.

Q. Did he ever indicate to you that he was aware of the risk of that process?

A. So he mentioned that he—you know, I said this is not safe and he acknowledged that, you know, it was not the safest practice, but that he would keep pressure on the plunger to prevent—to try to prevent backflow of anything into the syringe from the patient.

Q. So just so I'm clear on that. You questioned him about the risk, the safety of the practice; he acknowledged that?

A. Yes.

Q. That it was not a safe practice?

A. Yes.

16 AA 3647-48. Lakeman makes no further argument as to how this clear statement against interest caused prejudice, confused the issues or mislead the jury. The only relevant question is whether the evidence caused **unfair** prejudice. “Evidence is ‘unfairly’ prejudicial if it encourages the jury to convict the defendant on an improper basis.” Holmes v. State, 129 Nev. \_\_\_, \_\_\_, 306 P.3d 415 (2013). Here, the basis was entirely proper. Lakeman attempts to confuse the issue by invoking public health concerns, but this is not part of the analysis of prejudice to the jury in a criminal proceeding. The court appropriately found that Lakeman’s statements were more probative than prejudicial.

#### IV.

#### **The State Did Not Engage in Prosecutorial Misconduct**

Lakeman contends numerous incidents of prosecutorial misconduct. When addressing claims of prosecutorial misconduct, this Court engages in a two-step

analysis. Valdez v. State, 124 Nev. 97, 196 P.3d 465, 476 (2008). First, this Court must determine if the conduct was improper, and second, if it is does it warrant a reversal. Id. Regarding the second step, constitutional errors are subject to the beyond a reasonable doubt standard of Chapman v. California.<sup>3</sup> Valdez, 124 Nev. at 97, 196 P.3d at 476. Other errors will result in reversal if they substantially affected the verdict. Id. Moreover, “a criminal conviction is not to be lightly overturned on the basis of a prosecutor's comments standing alone, for the statements or conduct must be viewed in context; only by so doing can it be determined whether the prosecutor's conduct affected the fairness of the trial.” United States v. Young, 470 U.S. 1, 11, (1985); Hernandez v. State, 118 Nev. 513, 525, 50 P.3d 1100, 1108 (2002).

#### **A. The State Did Not Threaten A Witness**

Lakeman contends that the prosecutor committed misconduct by telling “[Mathahs] and his attorney in the middle of his cross-examination” that he was in violation of his proffer. AOB at 17. The court specifically stated that there was no misconduct on the part of the prosecutor. 12 AA 2565.

The State did not strong arm Mathahs. The prosecutor was simply letting counsel know that Mathahs was in violation of his proffer because he testified differently on direct than on cross examination, and thus at some point had not been

---

<sup>3</sup> 386 U.S. 18, 24, (1967).

truthful. Additionally, Lakeman misstates what occurred, as the conversation between the prosecutor and Mathahs' counsel was never communicated to Mathahs.

Further, any alleged error on the part of the prosecutor was harmless. NRS 178.598 provides that “[a]ny error, defect, irregularity or variance which does not affect substantial rights shall be disregarded.” Non-constitutional trial error is reviewed for harmlessness based on whether it had substantial and injurious effect or influence in determining the jury's verdict. Knipes v. State, 124 Nev. 927, 935, 192 P.3d 1178, 1183 (2008).

The conversation between the prosecutor and Mathahs' counsel was never communicated to Mathahs and therefore if it was misconduct, it had no bearing on the verdict. The prosecutor and Mathahs' counsel went on the record at the conclusion of Mathahs' testimony, agreeing that the State's discussion with counsel had not been passed along to Mathahs, thus his testimony was unaffected:

Ms. Weckerly: I just want the record to be clear when we took the break and discussed that Mr. – that the State's opinion was Mr. Mathahs was in breach of his agreement with the State, his attorney – neither his attorney nor the State's attorneys nor the defense counsel informed him that the State considered him in breach, so there couldn't have been any influence on his testimony.

Mr. Wright: Not to my knowledge.

The Court: Right. I mean, I didn't see anyone inform him. The record's clear the Court admonished his lawyers not to inform him and no one else left the room.

Ms. Weckerly: Thank you.

Mr. Cristalli: Well, I can only speak for myself, I didn't inform him...

12 AA 2611. There was no prosecutorial misconduct, as Mathahs' testimony was not influenced and thus the verdict was not substantially affected.

**B. The Prosecutor's Elicitation of Testimony Regarding the Federal Indictment Was Harmless**

Lakeman contends that the prosecution "DELIBERATELY elicited inadmissible evidence of a pending federal indictment." AOB at 18. At one point in this lengthy trial, Tonya Rushing—Desai's business manager—volunteered that she was under federal indictment. The prosecutor then followed up by asking who was involved in that indictment. While the State does not concede this was misconduct, the district court gave a curative instruction that given stopped any prejudice. 20 AA 9376. A jury is presumed to follow its instructions. Weeks v. Angelone, 528 U.S. 225, 234 (2000). Further, the pending-indictment comment had nothing to do with Lakeman: Rushing only spoke of herself and Desai being indicted. Therefore the prejudice to Lakeman is unclear.

"Generally, when evidence is heard by the jury that is subsequently ruled inadmissible, or is applicable only to limited defendants or in a limited manner, a cautionary instruction from the judge is sufficient to cure any prejudice to the defendant." United States v. Escalante, 637 F.2d 1197, 1202-1203 (9th Cir. Cal.

1980). “It is the exceptional case in which such instructions are found insufficient to cure prejudice.” Id. at 1203.

The court believed that the evidence had already come out prior to the comments made by Tonya Rushing, and if an indictment wasn’t clear, the participation of the FBI and other federal authorities’ involvement in this case was. 19 AA 4300-01. Rushing actually volunteered she was under federal indictment when asked if she was facing charges in this case. 19 AA 4294. Linda Hubbard also talked about being interviewed by the FBI. 15 AA 3423. Additionally, defense counsel brought up the federal case on cross examination of Mathahs:

Q. Okay. Now had you previously – I jumped over something there. Had you previously gone and talked to the feds, federal prosecutors?

A. Yes.

Q. Okay. With that – that – do you recall if that was back in 2010 after you had been indicted by the State?

A. Yes.

Q. Okay. And you – when I say you went and talked to the federal prosecutors, you went with your lawyer, correct?

A. Correct.

Q. Okay. Mr. Cristalli?

A. Correct.

Q. And the federal prosecutors were contemplating prosecuting you for billing fraud.

A. Correct.

Q. And you went with your lawyer and gave a – an interview under terms of a proffer agreement. Do you recall that?

A. Yes.

12 AA 2574. Defense counsel then further explored Mathahs' proffer given to the federal prosecutors:

Q. Okay. Do you know what a proffer agreement is?

A. Not truly.

Q. Okay. Well, it was something where you could go in and talk to them and they would hear what you have to say and **then they would decide whether they're going to make you a witness or a defendant**. Is that true?

A. Okay.

Q. I mean, was that your understanding of it?

A. I understand now, yes.

Q. Okay. And so you – you went in and talked to the federal prosecutors with your lawyer, correct?

A. Correct.

Q. Okay. And then you – you were not prosecuted federally, correct?

A. Correct.

12 AA 2474-75 (emphasis added). Defense counsel did not ask one or two questions regarding the federal investigation, but drug the issue out with Mathahs— going so far as to express that the federal prosecutors were deciding whether to make him a defendant. The reasonable inference is that there was or would be a federal indictment involving the major players in the Hepatitis C outbreak.

The State was trying to further explain Rushing's limited immunity in the State prosecution, and then simply tried to follow up. 19 AA 4294. The State agreed it was presented inartfully, but also that the question was only asked because "we had gone through those things with literally every witness that got on the witness stand with regard to, you know, the immunity and who had been involved with the

federal authorities and with the state authorities and so forth, and that was the reason to go down the line of questioning.” 19 AA 4304. It was not purposeful on the State’s part to elicit that response, and the State suggested a curative instruction. To the extent that this comment could be said to carry any prejudice at all since this defendant was not mentioned, the curative instruction given to the jury cured it.

### C. The State Did Not Argue Improperly in Closing

The State did not make any improper argument during the closing statement or rebuttal. Lakeman contends the prosecutor was acting improperly when stating: “Michael Washington was infected. You saw him. Who among you would want to have a liver transplant regardless of how much money you got.”<sup>4</sup> 25 AA 5496. Lakeman did not object during the rebuttal, but rather brought it up to the court in an untimely fashion, after the rebuttal was concluded. 25 AA 5507-08. The court said that “I caught it as well, but I didn’t sua sponte do anything because then he moved on and I figured it might be worse and **nobody objected.**” 25 AA 5508. “In order to preserve the issue of prosecutorial misconduct for appeal, the defendant must raise timely objections and seek corrective instructions.” Parker v. State, 109 Nev. 383, 391 (1993) (finding that the defendant’s failure to object and request an instruction precluded the consideration of the issue on appeal). If the court chooses

---

<sup>4</sup> Lakeman’s record cite regarding the statement during rebuttal is incorrect. AOB at 19.

to consider this issue, it can only be reviewed for plain error. Green v. State, 119 Nev. 542, 545, 80 P.3d 93, 95 (2003).<sup>5</sup>

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